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THE HOBOKEN ORAL HISTORY PROJECT

INTERV]EWEE: JULIETTE GAVIN

INTERVIEWER: ANN GRAHAM

LOCATTON: 7032 HUDSON, HOBOKEN, NJ

DATE: 7 FEBRUARY 2OO2

TAPE 7, SIDE 1

AG: Mrs. Gavin, can you tell me when you

moved to Hoboken? And how long you've fived here.

JG: I moved to Hoboken in 1,932 .

AG: From where?

JG: From New York City.

AG: And why did you move here?

JB: I beli-eve because rents were a l-ittle

cheaper. It was the beginning of the Depression, and my
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Gavin 2

Hoboken, and liked it. It was a nice, small town, very

friendly.

AG: How ol-d were you when you moved here?

JG: We moved here in L932 when f was 12.

AG: And did your parents have empJ_oyment

here ?

JG: My father was a chef, so he always had

some l-ittle places he could work for. It was the beginning

of the Depression, and the big hotels he had worked for

werenft hiring, because people weren't eating out. So he

really had to start doing other jobs. He didnrt "fear,"

because there were a lot of sal-oons in Hoboken, and he

could work at the free-l-unch counter. If people came in and

had two beers, they were wel-come to a free lunch.

AG: If they got two beers, they could have

a free lunch.

JG: Yes. They had to buy two. So they got

the first one because they were thirsty, and the second one
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Gavin J

to eat. So that's what he did, until_ he did find employment

again, in New York City, in a "diner." But most of your big

restaurants in hotels, people just didnrt have the money to

eat out.

AG: Are the saloons in which he worked

still here? Or are they all closed, and changed to other

bars or other shops?

JG: Most of them are cl_osed now, and the

ones that are open are where they have dining rooms to eat.

AG

JG

V{hich ones are those?

Wel-l-, one down on the corner of 1ltho

o

Street, Maxwell's, they st1ll have a back room, but at one

tj-me there was a restaurant there, very nice.

AG: Was it cal-led Maxwel-I's at that time?

JG: I canrt remember, it's been so 1ong.

No, it wasn't Maxwer]'s at that time. r think it started to

be called that when the Maxwel_I House coffee came to

o

Hoboken
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AG: Tel-I me a little bit about what Hoboken

was like when you moved here.

JG: Oh, I thought it was like living in the

country. It was beautiful. There was a large square, and

they had a lot of mom-and-pop saloons, and we had a lot of

lovely stores, too. You didn't have to travel to New york

or go out of Hoboken, because all- your stores were right

here.

AG: What kind of industry and work was

available here at that time?

A: Oh, there was quite a bit. Because it

was like a l-ittle manufacturing town. There was Chase and

Sanborn call-ed Standard Brands, and they made coffee. Then

they started LJ-pton's tea, and they moved that here because

of the waterfront. Plus we had a l-ittle railroad that came

up river road and ran long the waterfront--- so that was

very interesting. I worked in the coffee p1ace. I started

there in '37 , then they started tea, and I moved with the

tea down to another fl-oor. So there was only about six of
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us girls. Of course, the machinery came from Germany. We
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had German mechanics that we didn't understand, and they

didn't understand us, so they had to learn English. I

worked there five years, until I was married.

Q: So you started working there at what

age? How ol-d were you?

A: f was seventeen. When f was a steady

worker, that was L931 .

Q: And this was Standard Brands, where you

worked.

A: Yes.

Q: And did that name change, or was it

always Standard Brands?

A: No, it was always Standard Brands. Then

they moved to New Orleans, to be nearer to the water, so it

could be shipped right out. Because Hoboken was really,

from Second Street to Fourth Street, when the big ships

came 1n. They were beautiful coming down and dockj_ng in
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Q: You worked at Standard Brands for six or

seven years, until you got married?

A: Five years. f worked first at LJ_pton,s

for onJ-y six months. I was laid off because of my age. I

began working at Standard Brands when I was L7.

Q: Ej-ve years. Tel-l- me about the kinds of

work you did at Standard Brands.

A: We11, mostly I coul-d have worked in

the office, but in the office the pay was fess than what

you coul-d make "outr " but you could work overtime in the

factory. And being that my dad was a chef, it just the

restaurant business was way down, and places were closlng.

Again, ds I say, this was the Depression. So for me it was

better to work in the factory, because there was always

overtime. The forelady in charge would sdy, "Who can work

overtime?" and my hand went up. So that was nice. It was

"Chase & Sanbornr " the coffee part of it, and then when the

tea opened up, and they felt that the girls that di_dn't
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Gavin 7

than, oh, maybe, two days a year you could get laid off

when the a biq layoff came along so I was never laid off.

Q: You coul_dn't take more than two days off

a year?

A: Yes, because they needed the workers,

and this was a commodity that had to be used. Coffee was

dated. It came j-n a bag, and there were girls in a certain

part of the section who dated the coffee by the week and if

it wasn't sold by that date it had to be taken back. Then

it would be re-roasted, and then there were restaurant

diners that would ask, I'Ird like some coffee," and the

restaurant wourd sdy, "welrr we have our own special brand,

itrs called speclal brand coffeer" and the coffee was good

because it was re-roasted. Rea]1y wonderful. r worked there

until tea started, and then when Tender Leaf Tea started in

l-938, then I went down there were six girls that worked

on the tea bag machinesr So by the time I left there, there

were about fifteen machines.

Q: Can you te1l me exactly what you did

with the coffee and the tea machines? Can you descrj_be the

machines? What were they for?
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A: V[elI, the f irst mach j-nes r on cof f ee, the

coffee came down in chutes. There were four girls -two

qirls on bag folders and 2 girls on chutes. It came down in

buckets, like a l-ittIe

O funnel.

A: Yes, that was the word f was looking

for. I was thinking of a funnel bring the bags, and you

had to put your fingers in, you had to put your hands in,

and put underneath the funnel_, and then put it on the

conveyor, down to four girls (because there were two girls

operating the coffee), and when we put it out on the l-ittre

conveyor, there were two girls on each side folding the

bags, and putting them into, 1ike, a littl_e cup, and then

it would go through a conveyor that fol_ded it over and

seared it. Then at the end of this conveyor was a girr who

would take the bag, sealed, out of it, push it down the

chute, and then there were two fellows at the end of the

chute and they would pack the 1 pound bags into big boxes
o

o

and load them into trucks
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Q: So all coffee was put into bags. There

were no cans, dt that time.

A

l-ef t. They had a

They were just startlng the cans when I

big machine come in, and, oh, it was so

noisy. It was not a can in itself, Iike you see other

coffee. It was where there was actually cardboard being

made, and the coffee would fall- into this cardboard, then

it would go through another kind of a machine, where the

Chase & Sanborn label would be wrapped around it. Then it

woul-d also fold up the bag and everything. It put a lot of

gi-rrs out of work. one of those things. Even the mechanics

working there they said it was a shame because there were

so many layoffs.

Q: What year was this? When the machines

started replacing the workers?

A: V[eIl, I ]-eft there when I became

pregnant, and my son was born in '41, my oldest son, so I

would say it was about '38. Because then tea started.

Q: TeII me about the tea machj_nes, and the

o

machinery for the teas.
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A: They were unbel-j-evabl_e. You know, as

long as I've been gone from there, I can vj_sualize it,

because they were only about as tall as I am maybe an

inch or two taller, 5'7" and they were just

everything WAS SO interesting to watch, the way aJ_1 the

these big round pieces of filter paper fit on top of

machines There was this enormous fil_ter paper comi-ng up

it always reminded me, when you heard about cheese,

Swiss cheese, in the big ro11? We had to put that on the

top. Then it came through a splicer. The paper was cut,

and then two little things that kept going around, where,

as it spun around the tea fell down, and sent through the

chute. The tea came down in l-ittl-e cups. The paper went

around and made the tea baq. Suction brought the paper over

the cup of tea

Q: So the tea was already in a bug, and it

was cut in the bag?

A: When the part of the machine you know

how a wheel has spokes on it? Wel-I, the wheel that was

going around had these spokes, but it wasn't l_ike regufar

o
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spokes, it was where the tea came down. The tea was in a
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cup and then as the bag fol-ded around it, it came around to

where the bags and the string was on the bag, attached

to the string. Then the wheel came around for each step

and this is where the operator had to watch so many parts.

rt was marvelous to watch, because a little thin "cross"

would t.ake it off the cup, and 1t would go through and

you'd have these littl-e sheets of paper l-ike you see on the

tea bags today. And the suction thing that picked it. up,

the wheel- woul-d turn, the tea "wheel" would be pushed in,

it woul-d go through "printersr " and come out of the

conveyor, and you packed it. There was a lot of

competition bet.ween the day and nlght shifts for how many

were made.

Q: That's the same as it l-ooks today.

A: I don't. think they could change it to

anything better. It was so interesting. But, if you didn't

watch it, sometimes the tea would fill up too much and

you'd have a bag something would happen from where it

came from, and it would be so full, and it would jam up

because it wouldn't take it out. one machine coul-d be down

a

for hours, if you made a mistake like that. So they werenrt
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very happy about it, and when there was a layoff, they

would be the first to be laid off.

Q: Where was this located, this factory?

A: In the Lipton buj-Iding

Q: Did Lipton come in and take over this

building when Standard Brands l-eft?

A: No, it was always call-ed The sign is

still up there, isn't it? Llpton's? But, believe me, there

were so many places, because I worked for Lipton Tea for

six months, it was an age thing then I went with

Standard Brands about a week after I was laid off. \

Q: And why were you lald off from Lipton?

A: Because f wasnrt seventeen. f was sixteen

and a half. And when the six months No, I was sixteen

when I started there, and I was sixteen and a hal-f they

told me they would 1ay me off because of insurance.
o

o

Q: They hired you knowing you were sixteen?
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A: WelI, they hired me as a part-time

worker, and I guess I satisfied them with what I did, so I

was kept for the whore six months. Then they had to 1ay me

off. r was out of work for about a week, and then found a

job with Standard Brands. And then r was there until 1941".

Q: Now was it unusual at that time for a

young woman to be hired in these factories?

A: No, they hired mostly young people, for

the sj-mple reason that if it was a commodity that If

they didn't get enough orders, sdyr and they wour-d stock up

Now rrm talking about tea. coffee, that was a di-fferent

thing. They wourd sometimes have cartons and cartons of tea

and they woul-d have to use these tal_l l_adders to pack

the cartons of tea, because tea doesn't go bad like that.

Then, all of a sudden, there wouldn't be any tea, and

that's when you reaIly worked overtlme.

Q: Because why 2

A: V[e11, when the sa]-es would come in. The

sa]esmen would go get good orders, and what they did wourd

o

keep the tea. There were a l-ot of girls there that It
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was rike a family pIace. rf they knew you were the onry one

worki-ng, and you weren't out sick one day or two days and

if you were late, and those were marks against you There

were a lot of girrs there who were working as a second job.

Their father worked there r or whatever, like thatr so they

would be l-aid off, because they knew that someone in the

famj-1y was worklng. Then, again, it wou1d be counted

against you if not if you were sick (they could

understand that), but if it was a situation where once a

month you would take off, or every two months, ora Iong

weekend because there woul-d be ti_mes when orders came in

that r remember worki-ng three and half months without a day

off.

Q: No days. Not even Sunday?

A: Nope. We worked on Sundays, and we were

delighted, it was doubl-e time.

Q: But what was the normal_ work week?

A: We worked from Monday through Saturday,

but Saturday was l-ike a fj-ve-hour day. So it wasn,t bad.

o

o
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Q: And what other industries were in Hoboken

when you started working?

A: Wel-l, there was the coconut factory, up

there.

Q: Can you tell- me where each of these were

l-ocated?

A: A11 of them were in the same area.

Q: A coconut factory?

A: Yes. I think it's stlll there. I haven't

walked much in that area rately, but there was the Hostess

Cupcake, and the bread, where you could go in and if the

bread was taken back, because it was also dated, they kind

of put a "cut" in it so del-is coul_d come buy it, and f

would say it was maybe seven cents a loaf. Dontt forget,

the whol-e loaf was much cheaper. The prices were according

to the wages of again. When I went to work for Lipton's, it

a
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was $72.00 a week.
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Q: How much did you earn at Standard

Brands ?

A: You never asked how much you were

getting paid. That was something you were just happy you

were hired. When I got my first paycheck, I was dylng to

know what was in it. It was in a sealed tittle envelope,

l-ike you get from the bank. It was $16.50, so I was I

couldn't wait to get home and tel_l_ my Mom and Dad

Q: Any other industries that were around,

that you can remember?

A: WeII, you had Standard Brands on maybe

three floors, and in the same building was Bulova Watch,

where they made the boxes for Burova watches. And there was

a lot that I never even found out about, because there

would be different entrances. So there were a lot of

different factories, and, of course, Lipton Tea, Standard

Brands, and Bulova Watch.

a

a
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Q: And they were al_l in the same building.
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A: Yes, they hi-red a lot. And then not too

far across the way was the coconut factory in a different

building.

Q: And what did they do with the coconuts?

A: I imagine they shredded it. They

shredded it and packed it, for people to use it for baking.

Q: I heard that there was a Tootsie RolI

factory here in a different building.

A: Yes. It's still there, I think.

Q: Vfhere is that?

A: I think it's on Wi1low Avenue, although

there is that coat factory there now. I don't know if

Tootsie is there. But there are a lot of people who get on

the bus at a certain area, up there. The Tootsie RoIl

factory and then we al-so had the Cut-Rite Paper Waxpaper

factory, but that was on the borderline, between Hoboken,

toward Jersey City. Then we had Levelor and there was the

o
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"GE, factory
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Q: What was the first one you said?

A: Levelor. They made blinds.

Q: Oh, of course. Of course.

A: And there was a casket factory. That

casket factory was you know where the viaduct is? That

goes up to Jersey City, on 14th Street?

n. VaqY.

A: Well, I rm not sure of the street,

because, believe it or not, living in Hoboken all- these

years, I never go past a certain 14th and Willow you know. I

would say it was maybe at 14th Street. They made caskets.

They also had a terrib1e fire there, and they made blinds

from bamboo-- I guess you could check the time of it.

Q: Vflhat was the fire you mentioned?

o

o

A: That was in that factory.
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Q: What happened?

A: It burned that factory down. Because al_l_

that stuff was very flammable

Q: Was anyone killed?

A: Not in the fire, but we had a man that

owned the Maxwel-l- saloon down here, and anyway, he had a

set of twins, and he went back to see it, the twins went

with him. They were not babies, but they were, oh, around

seven years of age. The little girl pulled away. She was

holding onto the back pocket of his pants (you know how

chil-dren will do that), and for some reason she pul]ed back

a Iittle, and a car came roaring down and hit her, and

killed her.

Q: Thatrs terrible

A: Yes. So the tragedy was not only that

the fire was so bad, but they lost a child.

a

o

Q: Eleventh and Clinton
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A: No, 11th and Washington. That's cal_Ied

the Maxwe]1 sal-oon now

Q: But the factory was on Clinton.

A: I bel-i-eve it was, ye s.

Q: Was it rebuilt?

A: That I don't think so, and I don't thlnk

Levelor is still- there. I don't know anybody who works

there, you know. I know when there was Levelorrs, my

sister-in-l-aw worked there, but I didnrt know anybody

el-se. It's changed so. I really don't know anybody IN

Hoboken. The ones who were a littl_e older than T, they have

passed away those my age, and the younger ones got married

and moved away, after Worl-d War II. They a1I seemed to get

houses, with the exodus to the suburbs.

Q: Can you tell me about the housing when

you moved here? Where did you live? What was the housing

o

Iike, in general?
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A: Viell, the first p1ace, when we moved to

Hoboken, in L932r w€ l-ived right on Washington Street,

1104.

Q: In an apartment?

A: Yes. And there was a del-i under us

cal-l-ed "Nuenburg, Neuenberg's DeIi, and we were right over

that. We l-iked every day of that except on Friday, when

they made fish cakes. One store that never l-eft was

Schnacky's. That was there when we moved in ,32. There were

a lot of l-ittl-e stores

Q: What kind of little stores?

A: Mom and Pop stores. There was one ca.l-led

"Beck'sr" and it was a family-run thing, you know. And then

there was Schnacky's that was family-run. f haven't been

in there for ages, but I know the lady who was running it

f or a whi-Ie. Then we had a lot of butchers . Il[e didn't have

to go out of our area. It was rea1ly very, very nice.

Nobody saj-d, "Oh, f have to go get a dress someplace. " you

o

coul-d get everything in Hoboken.
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Q: Was the apartment you lived in when you

moved here was it the common type of housing, typical

houslng for most people who lived here?

A: Itrs the same as it 1s now. V[e]_I, this

apartment where r live now is more or l-ess a cut above--

but they were mostly cold-water ffats.

Q: What does that mean, exactly?

A: No heat. Coal stoves. It was a nlce

stove. As r sai-d, we f i-ved over the deI1 and there was a

biq kitchen and coal- stove, then a boiler, to make hot

water. rf you had the stove or, you had hot water. But if
it was summertime, you'd put the gas underneath the water

boiler and you'd have hot water. The dishes you put on top

of the stove. rt was cheaper than heatj_ng the whore boiler,
except for a bath. It was different livlng.

Q: Did you remain in this apartment 1ong?

A: I think we stayed there two or three

years, then we moved downtown to Broomfierd Street, between

o

Observer Highway and 1"t St
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Q: And were there single-family homes

there, or was this also

A: Houses l-ike these are all- l-ike that. As

it was carled then, cold-water flats. Then in'36 we moved

to "Eirst streetr " right across the street from the back of

City HalI. But that, too, was a cold-water flat

Q: Was most of the housing apartments, in

these flats? Were there any slngle-family homes here?

A: On Bl-oomfiel_d Street they had a lot of

homes, from First Street upward the same as they are

now. Not what you would actually carl just one family, but

they were two-story homes, for two famil_ies

Q: What about the brownstones along Hudson

Street? Vfere they here at that time?

A: Oh, yes.

a

Q: And were they multiple-family homes?
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A: I really don't know, because I didn't

know many people up around this way. When we lived on

washington Street r was going to school, and then when we

moved downtown, the first prace we moved downtown was tike

I said between the Observer Highway and First and

Bloomfierd. They didnrt calr it Eirst street, they used to

cal-r it Eerry Street. r don't know why. we had a trestl-e

down observer Highway where you went to the trolley car,

and it went up to Jersey City.

Q: And what were the reasons you would go

to Jersey City?

A: If you worked there. A l_ot of people

worked there. rn fact, my husband and his famiry l-ived in

that area, and they had to take that trolley car, and it

took you right down as far you came down off the

trestre, and you'd take it right down to where the ferries

come l-n.

Q: And when did they take out the trolley?

o

Do you remember?
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A: No, because by that ti-me we had moved up

to the upper part of town because when I started worklng,

and r sald to mom, it is sil1y to live on First so we moved

so I coul-d wal-k to work and save a nickel_.

Q: When you married, you quit working?

A: No, not until_ I was expecting my el_dest

son. He was born in ' 43 f always have to think if the

l-ast son was born in 53.

Q: Ten years younger.

A: Il[eI]-, there was the other son George in

between born in 48. When f knew I was expecting, because

they didnrt want people working because of the machines I

coul-d understand that, because it was dangerous. I had an

issue on tlme because I taught so many girIs. I was glad I

didn't teach one gir1. f r^/as on another machine and the

girl next to me didn't take her hand away from the machine

after she slid the paper in. After you slid it in you were

supposed to have your other hand away from it, and they had

a safety button, that if anything did happen, you coul_d

o

push the red button, and stop the machlne. There was an
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opening to put this paper through this narrow, narrow

thing, put it in and cfose it up. Then you start the

machine, and you made sure the paper was even. rf there was

a problem, the safest thing for a new person would be to

push the red button, so there were no chances of you

hitting the lever. She decided she was going to do it this

wdy, and her hand got caught in it. So then they did ask

us, "Did the teacher tel-l you how to use the equipment?"

And I said, "How Iong have I been teaching?', Because I was

here from the time it started, and we always teach the

girls to keep their hand on the red button, if anyt.hing

happens, when your knee hits the lever. Then the girl said

she did what she shoul-dn't have done. But it stil-I made me

fee] bad. But on the whole, it was wonderful_ work. No

union. Whenever the unj-on started to get in, the girls and

fel-Ias alike would sdy, "We don't need a union here. They

treat us good. "

Q: What unions tried to get in?

A: The CIO, the AEL. A11 the whil-e f worked

there, until I left, they didn't have a chance.

o

Q: Did they take no easily, the unj-ons?
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A: No, they rea11y tried hard.

Q: In what ways?

A: Well, trying to get you outside the

plant, walking wlth you, telling you what they could do for

you and stuff like that. Where we knew that when it was

sIow, they tried to keep you busy, doing other things.

There were times when coffee was so slow that when the boss

would come around, the foreman and the forelady would have

us go in the bathroom "Clean the bathroom sinks, clean

the mirrors, SO you're not in the head count.'r So, like I

said, I was never laid off, in aII that time.

Q: Did it eventually unionize?

A: I think it is now. I think when all of

us workers who worked right from the Depression time, who

worked therer we wanted no part of the union. I think

afterward it came in. But after I had my first son, Tom,

the forelady came down to see me. I was selling books, door

to door, when my son got a little ol-der. I happened to meet

O

her on the street, I was selling encyclopedias and
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magazines and she came to t.he apartment, and she said, "you

know, if you do this, why don't you come back to work?" f

said, "f do this only when my Mom is home, for two or three

hours. I wouldn't leave my son. " Pl_us the fact my husband

went into the service when my son was three months o1d, so

I just didn't want to leave and my mom would sit but she

had a bad back. It was just one of those things. It would

have been more expensive, if I had had somebody take care

of him. So I just stayed home.

Q: Would you describe most of the housing

here at the time as housing for workers?

A: Oh, definitely

Q: So this was a mai-nly working-class town,

would you say?

A: Yes. Definitely. As I say, most peopte

wanted to work in Hoboken, because they didnrt want to

spend the carfare. Even five cents on the bus meant a l-ot.

I try to tell the kids how bad the Depression was,. that you

were so happy to have bread. ft was an awful- time. Vflhen I

o

moved to Hoboken when f was L2, my father was a chef at the
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Indianapolis Athl-etic CIub in Manhattan, and then to be

reduced to working in diners. r don't mean anything against

the people who work in diners, but ilm talking about where

he would make statues out of ice. You've seen that. r know

there were times I was a real-, what you wouJ_d caI1, a

Daddy's girl. My Mom would dress me so warm, and we would

go and pick ice blocks. There were no refrigerators then.

I'd watch my Dad chisel, with an ice pick, and make

beautiful things in ice. But he came from France Alsace-

Lorraine and he went two years to cooking school, that

he had to pay for just like we pay for going to college.

That was one of the things he learned. It was a nice living

for usr because he made good wages. But when the Depression

29

came, he was lucky to get work in a diner. f think nearly

everybody in that time suffered very much, although I spoke

with a friend in this house and she had no idea what the

Depresslon was, because she was fortunate enough to have

parents her father always had a job. That happened to a

l-ot of different people. They didn't have to go through

that.

Q: Where did the owners of these factories

o

l-ive? Did they l-ive here, or outside Hoboken?
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A: A lot of them lived outside of Hoboken.

Q: In the city or

A: Not in New York City, no. They possj-bly

had homes that their mother and father had. They lived at

home. I guess, in a sense, when you think about it, even

when my husband came home from the service, the houses and

the brownstones on Bloomfiel-d Street you could get a

beautiful- brownstone for $18,000. But $18,000 was a heck of

a lot of money, and I was always worried about getting to

the point where I didn't have any money.

Q: Can you tel-l- me a little bit about

getting married? And when your husband went off to the war,

I understand that Hoboken was quite an embarkation place,

where people going

A: Yes, it happened where the ferry sli-ps

were, and were the Coast Guard was there. In fact, when I

sti1l worked at Standard Brands I was looking for my card

Iike an id card that had my fingerprints on it, just to go

to the waterfront. And that was in 1939, when they did that

o

you had to have the card.
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Q: You were restricted to go?

A: You had to have a pass if you worked

there, wlth your picture on it. The pictures were taken

with small cameras and it was not very flattering, because

it was just one of those little things they give you on a

postcard, and you had to show that when you went over the

railroad tracks, toward the factories because the ships

came in there.

Q: Do you stil-l- have that card?

A: I have it, but I couldnft find it. I was

Iooking for it.

Q: Maybe if you do find it we coul-d come

back and take a picture of it.

A: You know what it's like to have a

uniform on they just on they just cl-ick the picture. This

o

is a rogue's gallery, too.
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Q: I understand. It would be great,

historicarry. so onry the peopl-e who worked in that area

could get a card, to get a pass.

A: Yes. Becauser ds I say, some of those

ships came in there and docked, before the war and it

wasn't just when we got into the war in ,41, it was done

when the war was going on with different countries. when we

got into it, Hoboken was l-ike a sai-l-or town. No girl who

wanted to go out had to worry about meeting somebody,

because they were living at the y, a rot of the sailors,

and, as I say, the sailor ships were docked there. So it

was a very nice littl-e town, all these sail-ors walking up

and down.

Q: What happened to the men who went off to

the war? Did women take more and more of the jobs? courd

you describe that period to me?

A: Wel-I, I'11_ tell you, I knew one person

they call-ed Rose and we cal_led her Rosie the Riveter, you

know, and she was working on ships there. She had never

done that before. My cousin, Nell, she was in an RCA place

o

where they made these Years ago the radios had tubes in
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them. Did you ever see them? She worked in a place that

made these things, for the airplanes. She wanted me to go

to work there, with her. I had written to my husband and

saj-d, "You know, Cousin Nell wants me to go to work there, "

and he said, "Prease don't take that job if someone offers

it.' My husband went in to the petty office, third class

He took a test that others didn't pass and made second

class and then first class and he didn,t want me to work.

He'd always worked for the newspaper, delivery, you know,

with his Dad. His Dad was bl-ind-- so he klnd of did the

lob. ft was strictly a cl-osed union, where father and son

got the union card and somebody snitched. So he lost out on

the job, and his father had to go on pensi-on and it made a

biq difference as far as money coming 1n. My husband just

started golng anyplace to get a job, because we were

married then, and he went to the electrical union and they

told him that there may be j obs in the electricar union. So

he did. He got a:ob at Electrical Engineers-- some other

kind of name right up j-n Union City. He worked with a

man I still remember his name, Andy Janice because he

was an older man. He took a liking to Tom who was a good

student and taught him so much about the big armatures. So

when he was drafted, he had a couple friends who said

o

"We're going into the ship repair unit, but none of them
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passed the test. rt was part of the Navy instead of just

going into the Army. So then he got a notice that he was

going to be drafted. I was three months pregnant, and he

had worked so much at this el-ectrj_cal place he got an

extension on time because he was working on armatures and

the man said you make the diagram because you took it apart

and we can say "we don't know to put it back together

again" so first he had an extension because of his dad, and

second he had it because of his work on the armature. so

he had a longer tj-me before he went into the service. Then

he took the test, he passed, and he went in as an

"Electrician Third class. " That was when my son was three

months old.

Q: Irm not sure what an "armature" is. And

f also want to clarify the father/son issue, about the

union. Irm not sure f understand that.

A: I donrt think it's like that now, but it

started when fiy father-in-Iaw worked there, and that card,

because they bought into the union that card could only

be passed to the oldest son.

a

a

Q: What union was this?



a

o

o

o

a

o

o

a

o

Gavin 35

A: The newspaper daily deliveries union. f

believe it's somewhat the same way stil_l; that before

anyone else can buy lnto it, they want to know and Tom had

an ol-der brotherr so the card should have gone to him but

he wanted no part of it. So then Tom was able --this was

when he came home from the service and his dad was still

alive-- so he sj-gned the card over to him.

Q: That's when he started in the newspaper

business. And the armature?

A: The armature is what's on a ship. It is

an electrical part that sends out signals, that makes it

go, real1y. fL's a very big thing, they have to run wires

through it. This man knew that Tom had gotten a draft

l-etter f don't remember what you cal-l it ---an extension

of time and he knew quite a number of fell-ows that worked

in the shlpyards and they had gotten their notice too that

they were 1A. So when Tom couldn't work anymore, because

he couldn't go into the union, he said, "Well, f'Il go

anyplace. " Somebody said something about the el-ectrical

union so he went and signed up. The other felfows didn't

a

o

want to work in the shops because bosses could watch you
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and because they barred the union. They wanted to work on

ships because they could gold brick.

Q: Gold brick?

A: Yes, that was used for people who didn't

work much, if you could hide out for a little bit. It's

rea11y Army and Navy slang that started during the war,

when somebody didn't do fwhat they were supposed to do],

they were "gold bricking. "

Q: Can you tell me a little bit about the

shipbuilding at the docks here, when you came? Was it

thrivi-ng at that time? And did it thrive more during the

war ?

A: Well, the ships were coming in, but then

they started off to the New York piers because they were

bigger (the big ones were mostly in NY) and we had the big

ferry boats then. They were not like the ferry boats they

have today. They're small-, little things. During the war,

they were huge. They would hold six to eight cars,

depending on what trucks got on. Then they had both sj-des

that people would sit on. They had an upper deck. They were
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beautiful-. There's a restaurant now that was an old ferry

boat.

Q: Vf,here is it?

A: I know we went there. We were going to

have our fiftieth anniversary party there but f didn, t want

people to have to go up the gangplank to get into the ferry

boat. But we went there to eat many times. So it's still

there. The boys used to l-ike to go there, because they

took their children there. When they were kids they used to

go up to where the captain was, because my husband knew a1l-

those people and they would sdy, "Okayr w€ are going out

now and you can hol-d the whee1. " They though they were

maneuvering the ferry boat. That's what they were like

then.

Q: So the ferries then replaced the big

ships that came in? And the ferries brought the goods from

New York? fs that what happened?

A: No, the big ships, dt the piers, they

stil-l came in. Irm trying to remember. Because I know the

o

boys were born, and my Mom had a friend who came from
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switzerland and we went down to the pier. we went on the

ship, and it was really something to go on one of those

steamships, and the boys had great impressions of that. But

on the whole I think it was when New york opened their

pier that they stopped going there.

Q: How f amilj-ar are you with the I know

there was a lot of discussion of corruption on the

waterfront. There was a movie

A: I didn't know much about it. I had no

i-dea. In fact, I saw the movie, and one of the cops, peter

King had a smal-l- role. He had the Fourth st. station near

the church schoor. v[hen they f i]-med in st. peter and paul

church, they used the bottom of it and I had no idea they

were doing it, and our kids didn't know because the

youngest one was going to school- there. But peter King said

they were using the bottom of the church. He was a cop in

Hoboken, but he knew a lot of the dockworkers there. He

said there was a lot going on that he wanted no part of.

But i-t's funny. You didn't know j_t was

happening. They didn't put things in the paper like they

do today. Because I had an issue of the DaiTy lVews then

a
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that my son brought to me. It was one he'd gotten where
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he worked, that he saw on the tabl-es and it was meant to be

thrown out, and the corruption 1n these papers ! There was a

recent articl-e about the unions in the newspaper. rf ild

known all that was going on in the Daily /Vews when Tom

worked there I would have been twice as worried.

Q: This was corruption about Hoboken?

A: No, just the paper union. A11 paper

unions. It was unbel-ievabl_e, and j-t's stil_l going on. In

this paper it says that the mob is really running the

Times. Somehow, you wouldn't believe that. And I said to

"Roddy, my youngest son, "Can you get me another paper
o

o

tt

like that?" so I can send it to Tom,fr. and he said, "Mom,

take care of that oner" because there weren't that many of

those articl-es around.

Q: And when was this prlnted?

A: Just recently. Just recently

Q: Vflhat was the reaction 1n the town to

o

them movie, here? Did people pay attention to 1t, or not?
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A: They were upset about it. They didnrt

realize these things were going on and they were shocked.

Q: Can you tell me a l_ittl_e bit how the

town changed after the war?

A: Well, f can teII you it was wonderful_

just before the war. There was, r believe, a fireman who

had the knowledge of how make a loudspeaker system, and

these loudspeakers on erectrical poles l-ike a bell-shaped

object. rt was fantastlc, because if there were any pranes

going over that they weren't sure of, the "1ights" would go

off, you'd puII your shades down, turn the lights off.

After the war it was great, because it was used to announce

different things in town. A11 of a sudden you heard this

noise, and for example there was a littl_e chil_d 1ost at

city Hal-r and they sent out a child distress announcement.

And at christmas time they prayed christmas music over it,

and if they weather was bad, they came over the loudspeaker

system about what schools were closed. That was a fantastic

thing. That was really great. Later people started to steal-

the speakers off the po1es.

o
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Q: You were going to teII me about the

stores here, and how they changed.

A: Yes. We had a Woolworths

Q: This was in the '30s and ,40s

A: Yes. We had Woolworth's, we had Grants,

and Kresge's, all on washington street. we didn't have to

go out of Hoboken for anything. Then, as far as the shops

wentr we had I'm trylng to think. Well_, a baby store

call-ed "Cinderel-Ia"-- they had lovely stuf f . Then we had a

store called "Lewisr " and "Lewis" was kind of an upgrade

baby store. If you didn't see what you wanted, she woul_d

get it for you. she knew what it was that you wanted. There

were three baby stores. And we had Mittman's, and Lewisrs

and Mittman's were the kinds of stores you coul_d sdy, 'rIrd

Iike something like j-n a'camel_'colorr" and they'd find

that. At Lewis's she would actually rook for you, for stuff

that you would like. Mittman's was nice, but they just had

what they had. V0here Amanda, s is now was Helen, s dress

store. They woul-d not charge for alterations. But it was

great walking down Washington Street, because the windows

o

that was before we had the influx of I'm going to have
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to say they're not like they are today, "the puerto

Ricans." You know. Bei-ng that my Mom was from switzerland

and my father from Francer w€ never felt you should tal_k

against other people, because everybody 1n America is

different from way back. But it just was when a l_ot of

stores went out of business. Things changed.

Q: When was this?

A: It was after the end of the 1950, s when

people started to buy cars and go to the malls.

Before people didn't have cars. It was a

much more quiet prace, and it was beautiful- on the street,

there. The whol-e street was luscious . Now I call- it ..the

outhouse," out there.

There was another store called "The Three Gsr" and it was a

man's store, between 1"t and 2"d Street. That was a gorgeous

men's store. It was small, but they had it as "The Three

Gs, " because that was the manufacturing company. They made

suj-ts. You went in and tried it on and they made

alterations. Then there were other stores . . f said you

o
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di-dn't have to go out. There was a store called Freeman's,

and Ereeman's had lingerie. There's no place in Hoboken

today you can even buy a bra. The Fj-ve-and-Tens used to

have it. Now we have that one Flve-and-Ten that's junk

inside. There was also a store called Geismar men, s

department store between 3'd and 4th on Washington.

Q: I think there's a fancy lingerie store

up on 12th and Washington, but it's very fancy

A: Yes, it's very expensive. Freeman's, you

coul-d get housecoats in there, nightgowns, stockings

everything. In the sunimer time, love1y bathing suj_ts, and

it was reasonabfe. Not like on 14th Street, but, yet, it was

nice stuff. Of course, "Lewi-s's" had wonderful things, and

the Gej-smar's was fantastic, because once you were a

customer there and they started going into boys' stuff,

Tommy's d9e, fourteen, fifteen. They tried the earli-er

Iine, like toddl-ers, but they dj-dn't sell. Size 34, f or a

shorter man, you know. They would have safes on suj-ts for

half-price. So it was a good thing. They had a "cfub" that

they had where you paid $1.00 a week, but it was safe. It

wasnrt where you lost it. And they had a bottle simifar to

o

that, where numbers fit in the decanter and every Saturday
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they would shake the bott.le and we knew it was for rear.

V[ith the money you had saved up, you cou]-d have two or

t.hree numbers in it. r usually had three, and that money

could add up when they had a half-price sale. r could get

the best shirts Arrows and Van Heusen. The boys all

got their suits there, and, of course, my husband too.

Because they got so that when they had that kind of a saIe,

and they knew you were a customer, you'd get a card

earl-ier, and it would be l-ike a wine and cheese thing and

you'd have first pick at what you got. So it was nice. But

it was, agai-n, for thelr customers

Then, when the atmosphere changed in

Hoboken, and the people would come in and want the loud

clothes checked pants and what have you they tried to

please them. Then you'd go in and want a decent looking

shirt, and theyrd have all- these wild colors and

everything, pants with a p1eat., with plaids in between.

They woul-d be like sallor pants, but it wasn't, because it

was pJ-eated. So the ofder customers went elsewhere to buy

their clothes.

Q: Did the customers that they had

initial-ly begin moving out of town, for other reasons? Or

o

those customers never came anymore?
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A: No, a l_ot of them stayed. A 1ot of us

stayed in Hoboken myself, and there were other people

who stayed but you couldn't get the thlngs you wanted.

So you just didn't go anymore.

Q: Because there was more of a population

of Hispanics that wanted

A: Yes. Of course, now, the Hispanics, they

donrt dress that way. They have become quite blend right
in with the peopre. r guess when they went looking for
jobs, they weren't hiring them in the kind of crothes that
they wore.

Q: fn your opj_nion, why was there such an

infl-ux of Hispanics in Hoboken?

A: You know, f often wondered that. I can't

figure it out, although there were always changes in

Hoboken. There were changes when the rtal_ian people came.

one tj-me there was mostly all rrish people. The rtalian

peopre in lower Hoboken, toward the hill, and when f was

young, and would come up at different times, maybe a block

o

o
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past vflirIow. r telr you, their houses were beautifu]. They

brought stuff from rtaly, and on Bloomfierd Street, around

3'd to 4th Street, there were a lot of Germans who had

private houses. vfhen r went to work i-n the morning, these

women were out there with a broom and a pail, and they were

cleaning down their stoop, and their part of the sidewark

with Lysol water, you know. They were very, very cl_ean.

They saved money.

It just WAS A love1y town, and it's a loveIy

town now. r was out in cal-ifornia for twerve months, and r

was amazed. Nobody walks. f t's ridicul-ous. r missed wal_king

on Washington Street, seeing people. you wake up in the

morning, you hear the garage doors openr you see the two

cars arrive. The husband takes the first and puts the other

one outside. I saj-d to "Tom,rr I'Itrs beautj_ful_ and you have

a beautiful home, but where are the people? Where are the

kids? The kids go inside, they donrt even wal_k to the

subways. "

Q: So when all these stores left, where did

you go shopping? And how long did it take before Hoboken

o

started to become
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A: Well, there are really no stores now on

washington street. There's not one nice dress shop. And the

store that's Amanda's now, the restaurant? That was a dress

shop called "Roses. " In fact, I bought the dress that f

wore on my honeymoon in there. r foved to go in there. She

was also a seamstress.

Q: Vflhat other stores did you

A: Then there was a store downtown, dt 6th

and washj-ngton then she moved to where Amanda's is calred

Helen's. Very nice things. There was one store (I can't

remember the name of it) that always had such beautiful-

Ii-ngerj-e. That's all they had was lingerie, and bed

jackets, and things like that. When the movie came out

I,Lrs. Miniver -- with Greer Garson, and, I think, Walter

Pidgeon (Irm not sure), but anyhow, my Mom got Mrs.

Miniver's nightgown that she wore in this picture, for my

sister-in-Iaw, because she was so crazy about it. There

were 1ove1y things.

Q: So you don't feel that the stores have

come back, since all the young professionals have moved

o

here--
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A: No, and itrs a shame, they should.

Because I think people would be so happy if they coul-d go

i-n and get the things that we were fortunate enough to be

able to do, without going to New York.

Q: It seems like so many of the younger

people are focused on New York. They work j-n New York

A and they shop in there. I think

thatrs why a l-ot of them closed. But I do know Geismar's

has a store, st111, in another town. They had the two

stores, and they kept the other one open. But it was too

far for us to go.

Q: It's interesting how you call- the area

down by the PATH area the "downtown"

A: This was uptown. It was always known

that way. I l-ived uptown and between 9th and loth it was

called "Doctors' rowr" because all the doctors were there.

Brownstones. But that's true. I say I l-ive "uptown, " and

o

they're "midtown. "
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Q: Were there differences in the types of

stores from uptown and downtown?

A: No. There were no stores up around this

area, except restaurants. V[e had a little Jewish store

between 9th and 1Oth Street. It didn't last 1ong. Because

everybody was used to going downtown to the stores and walk

on Washington Street.

Q: Vfhat kind of store was this? The Jewi_sh

store?

A: Just a l-ittle store with not a lot of

variety where you could go in and buy stockings, and

gloves. They did have s1ips. And, of course, a lot of that

when pants came j-n because s11ps weren't being sold. I was

amazed when Ereeman's went out of business. So it was a

shame that a1l those nice stores went out, because not

everybody has cars to go to mal-l-s.

Q: What did they do about going shopping,

o

when they didn't have a car to go to malls?
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A: Wel1, you just started sending for it.

Thatrs what I did. We did have a Sears up in Union City and

then they went out of business, but we had Robert Halls j-n

Jersey City. It's a shame.

TAPE 2, SIDE 2

A: When my son married and he and his wife

Iived in the apartment above, and she said, "It's so much

fun. Do you know everybody in Hoboken?" People knew each

other. I coul-d walk down 14th Street down to 1"t and I don/t

know anyone now.

Q: When did people start movi-ng in, and

start renovating, and the development of the town, after it

declined for a whj-le. How dld you react to that? How did

your friends react to that?

A: To the new people moving in? Oh, we

thought it was great they were buying the people out,

saying they would help them move, and a whole row of houses

were bought out. They had declined and it took years and

years for those houses to J-mprove and now they are kept in

o

such ni-ce condition.
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Q: Tell- me about when the young

professional-s started movi-ng in, and how that changed

Hoboken, and about the new developments that you see near

you.

A: Well, f think the new developments are

f i-ne.

Q: So you don't mind the large, high-rlses?

A: No, I think they are nice.

Q: What about the Shipyard building? The

Shipyard the Constltution. The tall, high-rise

A: WelI, you know what I get a kick out of?

There's a certain way you go out of the area, you have so

many different streets. The cabbies go crazy because they

donrt know the streets, and it's not quite what it used to

be. This is 1ltn, !2'n, 13tn, and they've got al-l these

different names up there now, where those high-rises are.

?

o

o

But I think the pi-ers are wonderful-. When it was warm
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weather I walked up there every day, walked the piers, and

I thought it was great.

Q: Is there anything I haven't asked you

that's important? We've tal-ked a Iot. It's been real1y

wonderful. It rea11y has been. I appreciate it so much.

A: Wel-l-, I'm happy if I could help in any

way. I'm just wondering what I coul-d say as far as it goes.

There were changes

Q: I notice you have a lot of books about

Frank Sinatra. Did you know him?

A: Just to meet him once, when he worked at

the Paramount. Hi-s cousin worked with me, and we just went

backstaqe for one second. He had the most beautiful blue

eyes. It wasnrt anything where I got a picture or anything.

It was just one of those things that he kind of put up

with, then we came back.

Q: What year was this?

o

O

A: Oh, I guess that would be, maybe, L937 .
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Q: So he was singlng

at the Paramount.

Q: fn New York?

A: Yes. I think so. It was just one of

those quick things.

Q: Was it crowded?

A: Oh, the place was filled. We had so many

wonderful- places in New York, that you could go every week

to a different theatre. They all had stage shows. We saw

Tommy Dorsey, DLzzy Gillespie they were al-l separate

"offices" then; the Gl-enn Mi1Ier band.

Q: Great. Okay. It's been wonderful_. Thank

you so much.

h

a

,Jul-iette.

A: Well, it's been a pleasure. My name is


